RECEIVED

Jan 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Darlington County

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARIUS GRANT DICKEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000145

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability, where there was no evidence that if Appellant was not the shooter that he was aiding and abetting another person who was the shooter, since the improper instruction was hopelessly confusing?

- II. Whether the trial court erred by quashing the jury panel, where defense counsel struck two jurors who both had conservative demeanors and one declined an age exemption from jury service, since these were race-neutral and gender-neutral reasons?

- III. Whether the trial court erred in admitting a body-camera recording which captured the immediate aftermath of the shooting,
 - A. Where any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, since the evidence should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

 - B. Where any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by considerations of needless presentation of cumulative evidence, since the recording should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 11, 2020, a Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Darius Dickey, Appellant, for murder, unlawful carrying of a pistol, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On September 7, 2023, a Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder and two counts of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. *(indictments). The State served notice of intent to seek life without parole based on Appellant's prior conviction for attempted armed robbery. Tr. 668, l. 13 – 670, l. 16. Appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin and a jury, from January 22 – 25, 2024. Appellant was represented by Marianna White, Jamie Scruggs, and Nathan Scales. Kernard Redmond and Monty Bell prosecuted the case. Tr. 1.

Appellant was convicted as indicted, and he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of life without parole for murder, life without parole for attempted murder, twenty years for each count of ABHAN, and one year for unlawful carrying of a pistol. No sentence was imposed for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Tr. 646, l. 14 – 648, l. 20; Tr. 676, l. 3 – 677, l. 6.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 26, 2020, shooting broke out at approximately 1:45 a.m. inside a crowded Mac's Lounge in Hartsville. Tr. 337, l. 8 – 339, l. 5; Tr. 158, l. 16 – 159, l. 9; Tr. 275, ll. 12-13. The State alleged that Appellant and one Davijon McCall shot at each other, but their gunfire hit others in the club. Garrett Bakhsh, DiCaprio Collins, and Bryant Robinson were shot and killed.¹ Ivan Grandados and Leonard Sweetenburg were hit by gunfire but survived.² Davijon McCall was charged with the murders of Collins and Robinson. Tr. 132, l. 9 – 138, l. 3; Tr. 162, l. 23 – 164, l. 2; Tr. 259, ll. 8-12; Tr. 481, ll. 3-19. Appellant was charged with the murder of Bakhsh, with the attempted murder of McCall, and with ABHAN as to Grandados and Sweetenburg. R. *(indictments). Appellant was tried separately from McCall. Tr. 1.

A woman named Angelena Deason³ pointed out Appellant's car to a state trooper, the first officer on the scene, but the trooper was unable to stop the car due to traffic from people fleeing the shooting. Tr. 528, l. 20 – 531, l. 8. Around the same time, Appellant called his mother to say the car he was driving had been stolen. Tr. 442, ll. 3-23. When Investigator Hause subsequently met with Appellant's mother, they got Appellant on the phone and Appellant admitted being at the club but denied shooting and he stated the car was stolen. Tr. 468, l. 3 – 470, l. 22.

Officer Curtis, the second officer on scene, had a body-worn camera which recorded the immediate aftermath of the shooting. Curtis got there “[m]oments after” the shooting. Tr. 158, ll. 16-21. Curtis spoke to a crying and hysterical Deason outside the club. Tr. 160, l. 2 – 161, l. 6.

¹ Bakhsh survived for several days in the hospital before succumbing to his injuries. Tr. 267, l. 16 – 269, l. 4.

² A sixth man, Michael Grider, was also shot and injured. Tr. 163, l. 18- 164, l. 7.

³ Deason was a military police officer in the Army. This fact would become relevant to the *Batson* discussion, *infra*.

Deason claimed that prior to the shooting she saw Appellant pull a gun out of his waistband and cock it, then put it back in his waistband. According to Deason, she heard the gunshots break out shortly thereafter. Because of what she had seen, she assumed Appellant fired shots. However, she did not see Appellant pull the gun out after he put it back in his pants, and she did not see Appellant shoot. Tr. 315, l. 5 – 317, l. 21; Tr. 186, l. 16 – 189, l. 4; Tr. 160, ll. 6-24.

The only person who claimed Appellant fired shots that night was Appellant's cousin, Zyrig Thomas, who denied remembering that he made such a statement when called to testify at trial. Tr. 450, l. 3 – 453, l. 14. However, Investigator Hause claimed Thomas told him DiCaprio Collins and Davijon McCall were fighting, and Appellant grabbed McCall, then Appellant and McCall shot at each other: Appellant while backing away towards the patio and McCall while backing away towards the main entrance. Tr. 473, l. 5 – 476, l. 18.

Club owner Jeremy Grantham testified he heard gunshots and saw muzzle flash coming from over by the pool table near the patio door directed towards the front door. Tr. 339, ll. 3-25. Patron Ivan Grandados testified he was shot near the pool table on his way out to the patio. He stated it sounded like shots were coming from the direction of the patio. Tr. 277, l. 7 – 279, l. 10. Patron "A.J." Wright testified he saw Appellant, DiCaprio Collins, and another man walking towards the stage. According to Wright, Appellant had his hands in his pants. Wright testified he heard "commotion" and "holler[ing]" and then gunshots. Wright did not see who started the fight. Wright claimed he saw Appellant afterwards, "jumping up and down asking who did it with the gun in his hand." Tr. 408, l. 7 – 411, l. 17.

The state trooper located Appellant's car shortly after the shooting. It was parked outside a residence in the area. Tr. 531, ll. 11-17. A friend of Appellant's would testify that Appellant had pulled up to the residence driving the car. Tr. 511, l. 18 – 514, l. 1. No one was in the car

when the trooper got there but the trooper saw shell casings inside the car. The shell casings were forty-caliber. A person identified as Appellant, who claimed to be a resident of the home, came out and asked the trooper to leave but the trooper stayed with the car until other officers arrived. Tr. 195, l. 20 – 197, l. 7; Tr. 531, l. 21 – 534, l. 20; Tr. 501, l. 24 – 504, l. 8.

Forty-caliber shell casings and nine-millimeter shell casings were found inside the club. Fired projectiles were also recovered, and possible bullet strikes seen on the walls. Tr. 231, l. 4 – 239, l. 24. The shell casings from Appellant's car were compared to shell casings at the scene of the shooting, and an expert in firearms and toolmark identification opined that the same gun that fired the casings found in Appellant's car also fired some of the casings found at the shooting scene. Tr. 368, l. 18 – 369, l. 11; Tr. 387, l. 12 – 393, l. 6.

The State proceeded on the theory that McCall shot at Appellant, but struck Collins and likely also struck Robinson; and Appellant shot at McCall, but likely struck Bakhsh, as well as likely striking Grandados and Sweetenburg. Its theory of the case was based on testimony from people in the club, the locations of the people who were shot, and firearms evidence. Tr. 586, l. 1 – 594, l. 15; Tr. 132, ll. 13-22; Tr. 162, l. 23 – 163, l. 16; Tr. 267, l. 16 – 271, l. 16; Tr. 277, l. 3 – 279, l. 2; Tr. 288, l. 2 – 289, l. 16; Tr. 296, l. 18 – 297, l. 18; Tr. 315, l. 17 – 323, l. 17; Tr. 338, l. 19 – 342, l. 24; Tr. 361, l. 2 – 364, l. 4; Tr. 376, l. 3 – 393, l. 6.

However, as counsel argued in closing, the evidence did not conclusively establish that Appellant was a shooter. Nor did it establish that if he were a shooter, his bullets hit Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg. Tr. 597, l. 17 – 610, l. 4. For instance, the State's firearms expert opined that Davijon McCall's gun fired a bullet recovered from the autopsy of Brian Robinson, and that McCall's gun may have fired a bullet recovered from DiCaprio Collins's autopsy. However, the expert could *not* say that the gun which fired the shell casings from Appellant's car

also fired the bullet fragments recovered from Garrett Bakhsh's autopsy. The expert also admitted that *McCall's* gun may have fired the shot which struck Bakhsh. Tr. 380, l. 5 – 384, l. 11; Tr. 384, l. 19 – 385, l. 23; Tr. 396, l. 15 – 399, l. 20.

The jury was charged on self-defense and defense of others. Tr. 625, l. 13 – 629, l. 24. It was charged on accomplice liability over objection. Tr. 623, l. 21 – 625, l. 6. It was not charged on mutual combat. The jury deliberated for approximately three hours and forty-five minutes. It asked two questions. Tr. 634, l. 20 – 645, l. 6. As seen, Appellant was convicted as indicted.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred by instructing the jury on accomplice liability, where there was no evidence that if Appellant was not the shooter that he was aiding and abetting another person who was the shooter, since the improper instruction was hopelessly confusing.

The State asked the jury to convict Appellant because the victims were “caught in the crossfire” between Appellant and Davijon McCall. It obtained an instruction on accomplice liability. Davijon McCall was not Appellant’s accomplice: the State alleged the men were shooting at each other. The accomplice liability instruction was unsupported by the facts and hopelessly confusing.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Id.* “In reviewing jury charges for error, this [c]ourt must consider the [trial] court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). “If, as a whole, the charges are reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” *Id.* “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” *Id.* “To warrant reversal, a [trial] court’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” *Id.*

Relevant facts

No one alleged Appellant intended to shoot Bakhsh, Grandados, or Sweetenburg. The evidence did not conclusively establish which gun fired the shots that struck Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg. It could have been McCall's gun. Pretrial, the defense attempted to clarify upon what theory the State was going forward—defense counsel stated the prosecution had previously informed the defense it was proceeding on a mutual combat theory, but now it appeared the State was not. The defense also sought to confirm Appellant only faced one count of murder at this trial. Tr. 91, l. 6 – 92, l. 7. Although the solicitor noted that Appellant had been indicted for the additional murders of Brian Robinson and DiCaprio Collins under a mutual combat theory, the solicitor stated the State was “backing off” of that. The solicitor stated the prosecution was going forward on a theory of transferred intent as to Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg, and specific intent as to McCall. Tr. 92, l. 11 – 93, l. 8; Tr. 98, l. 9 – 99, l. 8.

At the conclusion of the case, the State did not seek a jury instruction on mutual combat.⁴ Nevertheless, quasi-mutual combat was the State's theory of the case as presented to the jury. The State alleged that Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg were shot, likely by Appellant but possibly by Davijon McCall, while the two men were shooting at each other. In closing argument, the solicitor summed up the State's position by stating that Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg were like “fish in a barrel caught in the crossfire” between Appellant and McCall, when the two men shot at each other. Tr. 586, l. 1 – 587, l. 17. As seen, the State's firearms expert opined that

⁴ Likely the State did not seek a mutual combat instruction because it had not proven that Appellant and McCall were “rival combatants [who] were armed for the mutual combat with deadly weapons and each combatant knew the others were armed.” *State v. Young*, 429 S.C. 155, 160, 838 S.E.2d 516, 519 (2020). The mutual combat doctrine “has most often been applied in situations where the defendant and decedent bear a grudge against each other before the fight in which one of them is killed occurs.” *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 232, 589 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2003).

Davijon McCall's gun fired a bullet recovered from the autopsy of Brian Robinson, and that McCall's gun may have fired a bullet recovered from DiCaprio Collins's autopsy. However, the expert could not say that the gun which fired the shell casings from Appellant's car also fired the bullet fragments recovered from Garrett Bakhsh's autopsy. The expert also admitted that McCall's gun may have fired the shot which struck Bakhsh. Tr. 380, l. 5 – 384, l. 11; Tr. 384, l. 19 – 385, l. 23; Tr. 396, l. 15 – 399, l. 20.

The State sought an accomplice liability instruction. The defense objected to the request, and argued there was no evidence to support the charge, since Appellant was not alleged to have been acting in concert with anyone. Tr. 571, ll. 6-19; Tr. 572, ll. 6-10. The State responded that Appellant and McCall aided and abetted each other by shooting at each other in a crowded bar. Tr. 576, l. 7 – 577, l. 15. “[I]t’s just hard for me to fathom the fact that just because we may not be able to definitely say who fired the fatal shot in a shootout in a bar that anyone should be able to benefit . . . since we don’t know who shot whom, hey, tough luck.” Tr. 578, l. 122 – 579, l. 10. The defense replied that “*Young* said that there has to be a pre-existing dispute and that the State is required to [p]rove the [rival] combatants were armed for the mutual combat with deadly weapons and each combatant knew the others were armed. And that’s our, the basis of our objection.” Tr. 581, ll. 13-18.

The court took the matter under advisement. Tr. 582, l. 24 – 583, l. 2. The court charged the jury on accomplice liability but not on mutual combat. Tr. 623, l. 21 – 625, l. 6. At the conclusion of the charge, Appellant renewed his objection to the charge on accomplice liability. The State was silent. Tr. 632, ll. 9-17.

Discussion

The State's alternative theories of Appellant's criminal liability were that Appellant shot at McCall with the intent to kill him but missed, striking Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg; or that McCall shot at Appellant and missed, striking Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg. Thus, the State sought to convict Appellant under the doctrine of transferred intent or the doctrine of mutual combat. To avail itself of the mutual combat doctrine, the "State is required to prove the rival combatants were armed for the mutual combat with deadly weapons and each combatant knew the others were armed." *State v. Young*, 429 S.C. at 160, 838 S.E.2d at 519. "[M]utual combat can properly serve as the basis for a murder charge for the death of a non-combatant under the 'hand of one is the hand of all' theory of accomplice liability. When two or more individuals engage in combat via a reckless shootout, they collectively trigger an escalating chain reaction that creates a high risk to any human life falling within the field of fire." *Young*, 429 S.C. at 157, 838 S.E.2d at 517. "[M]utual combat acts as a bar to self-defense because it requires mutual agreement to fight on equal terms for purposes other than protection." *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. at 234, 589 S.E.2d at 4. The State did not make the showing necessary to receive a mutual combat instruction—that the men were rival combatants armed for the mutual combat and each knew the other was armed. The State did not seek a mutual combat instruction. Instead, it sought and received an instruction on accomplice liability.

It was error to charge the jury on accomplice liability where there was no evidence Appellant and McCall were accomplices. "Under the hand of one is the hand of all theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose." *State v. Harry*, 420 S.C. 290, 299, 803 S.E.2d 272, 276 (2017) (cleaned up). "Under

the doctrine we refer to in South Carolina as ‘the hand of one is the hand of all,’ the State proves the defendant guilty by proving he had a mutual plan or agreement with another person to commit one crime, and during the course of committing that initial crime, the other person committed a second crime they had not agreed to commit.” *State v. Sellers*, 442 S.C. 140, 148, 898 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2024). In a typical case where the State attempts to convict the defendant of murder under the hand of one doctrine, two or more people agree to commit an initial crime, and during the course of that crime a person who is not the defendant shot and killed a victim. *Id.* “[I]n a murder case involving a gunshot, the trial court should charge the law of accomplice liability when there is any evidence (1) the defendant had a mutual plan or agreement with another person to commit the murder, and (2) the other person in the mutual plan or agreement fired the fatal shot.” *State v. Johnson*, 444 S.C. 442, 449–50, 908 S.E.2d 102, 106 (2024). In this case, there was no evidence that Appellant had a mutual plan or agreement with another person to commit an initial crime. There was also no evidence McCall was part of a mutual plan or agreement to commit an initial crime. There was no evidence Appellant or McCall had a plan to shoot Bakhsh, Grandados, and Sweetenburg. Appellant and McCall were not alleged to have been accomplices—they were alleged to have been shooting at each other rather than aiding and abetting each other in committing some initial crime when the shots broke out.

“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). “In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2003). “If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the request.” *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004).

“[I]t is reversible error to charge a correct principle of law as governing a case when such principle is inapplicable to the issues on trial.” *Dunsil v. E. M. Jones Chevrolet Co.*, 268 S.C. 291, 295, 233 S.E.2d 101, 103 (1977). “The purpose of instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. It is error to give instructions which are calculated to confuse or mislead the jury.” *State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987) (citing *State v. Hewitt*, 205 S.C. 207, 31 S.E.2d 257 (1944)). See also *State v. Rothell*, 301 S.C. 168, 169–70, 391 S.E.2d 228, 229 (1990) (same). “Instructions that do not fit the facts of the case may serve only to confuse the jury.” *State v. Blurton*, 352 S.C. 203, 208, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002). “Only law applicable to the case should be charged to the jury.” *Id.* See also *State v. Fair*, 209 S.C. 439, 445, 40 S.E.2d 634, 637 (1946) (same).

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