RECEIVED

Aug 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Darlington County
The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DARIUS GRANT DICKEY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000145

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. PAUL M. BURCH, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit
601 West McGregor Street
P.O. Box 276

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

The *only* way a jury could know how to evaluate the collaborative actions of both DiCaprio and Appellant in the context of a defense of others theory, is to be charged on accomplice liability as well. While the State ultimately did not obtain a mutual combat instruction in tandem with accomplice liability, the circumstances of this case arising out of two combating sides, demonstrated the need for the charge. The record here clearly satisfied the any evidence standard.

Lastly, while Respondent argues that the charge was appropriate, Appellant also fails to demonstrate resulting prejudice. “In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” *Campbell*, 443 S.C. at 191, 904 S.E.2d at 445-46 (2024) (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)). Here, the jury also found that Appellant was guilty of attempted murder of McCall. That verdict demonstrates that they found Appellant to have both the specific intent to kill McCall and that he had taken requisite actions to further that intent by firing his weapon. The accomplice liability charge therefore could not have erroneously contributed to the verdict for murder.

II. The trial court followed the established *Batson* procedures, was correct to find that Appellant relied upon a vague, ill-defined, and ultimately pretextual basis for striking jurors, and Appellant cannot satisfy his burden for demonstrating prejudice because none of the stricken jurors were seated on the second jury.

Issue as it was presented at trial

Following the voir dire of the jury panel, the parties proceed to call, seat, or strike jurors for the case. The following table represents the prospective jurors as they were called, their race and gender, the ultimate decision of the parties as to whether to seat or excuse the juror (R. p. 54-64), and the reason provided if the strike was disputed:

1. #189 Rickya Washington,	black female	seated	
2. #120 Beverly McCutcheon,	black female	seated	
3. #179 Lucas Tolson,	white male	excused by defense	former SCDC employee
4. #49 Arnold Floyd,	white male	excused by defense	
5. #20 Raenell Brooks,	white female	excused by defense	disregard of age exemption & conservative demeanor
6. #51 Betty Ford,	black female	seated	
7. #52 Tychiana Ford,	black female	seated	
8. #71 Kenneth Hamilton,	black male	excused by the State	
9. #37 Leslie Dority,	white female	seated	
10. #111 Danielle Lombardi,	white female	excused by defense	
11. #81 Chelsea Hopkins,	white female	excused by defense	
12. #59 Teresa Gainey,	white female	excused by defense	

13. #62 Beverly Grant,	black female	excused by defense	previous knowledge of the case
14. #73 Jennifer Hardee,	white female	excused by defense	
15. #181 Lenora Toney,	black female	seated	
16. #57 Kathryn Gainey,	white female	excused by the State	
17. #60 Melvin Gale	black male	seated	
18. #150 Victoria Robinson,	black female	seated	
19. #83 Hermena Hough,	black female	seated	
20. #170 Jessica Stephens,	black female	seated	
21. #100 Susan Kelley,	white female	seated	
22. #152 Melinda Rolfe,	white female	excused by defense	displayed conservative demeanor
23. #68 Terry Graham,	black male	seated	
24. (ALT) #193 Andrea Williams,	black female	seated	
25. (ALT) #149 Tiana Robinson,	black female	excused by the State	
26. (ALT) #58 Robert Gainey,	white male	seated	
27. (ALT) #109 James Lee,	white male	excused by defense	juror allegedly glared at defendant
28. (ALT) #128 William Moore,	white male	excused by defense	veteran; alleged bias due to State's primary witness being active duty
29. (ALT) #106 Daniel Kovach,	white male	seated	

The end result of the jury selection was that there were two Caucasian jurors and ten African-American jurors, two of whom were male jurors and ten were female jurors. No Caucasian males were selected for the Appellant's jury. Appellant used all twelve strikes, eleven of which were for Caucasian jurors or alternate jurors. The only African American juror struck by Appellant was juror #62, Ms. Beverly Gant, a black female who informed the court that she had prior knowledge of this case due to living in Hartsville and communications with the family of an alleged victim. (R. p. 27-28).

The assistant solicitor acknowledged that a number of the strikes used by the defense that might otherwise raise suspicions, may relate simply to innocuous matters that came out during the voir dire. (R. p. 66). However, after review, he noted that the defense struck at least eight white

⁸ Juror #62, Ms. Beverly *Grant*, is later identified as "juror #62, Ms. Beverly *Gant*." This is likely merely a typographical error, or an error in hearing the pronunciation of her name. (R. p. 81). Of note, Ms. Gant was excused by the defense during the first jury selection, with the record demonstrating that she was familiar with the case through a victim's family. Despite having a strike remaining, Appellant seated Ms. Gant when she was called for the second jury, and Appellant later used this last strike to excuse juror #109, James Lee, a white male.

⁹ The State did not challenge this strike. However, as it was Appellant's only strike of a juror of African-American descent, the reason for the strike is relevant.

¹⁰ Appellant was out of strikes at this point and did not have a basis to excuse the juror for cause.

jurors and two more white alternate jurors. The assistant solicitor then challenged the strikes used on five jurors and asked that Appellant provide race neutral reasons for their strikes. These included jurors numbered 179, 20, 152, 109, and 128. (R. p. 66-67).

The trial court then proceed to ask Appellant about each disputed strike. Appellant indicated that juror #179 was struck because he was “a former SCDC employee that, obviously, raises concerns to us.” (R. p. 68). Appellant asserted that juror #20 “had an age exemption. She chose to stay and I believe she had quite a conservative demeanor and, therefore, chose to exercise the strike. (R. p. 68, lines 6-9). Appellant later added: “we did not excuse her due to her age, We viewed the fact that she did have an exemption yet chose to stay, um, as just a factor along with her demeanor.” (R. p. 70, line 23 through p. 71, line 4). Assistant Solicitor Redmond then responded that *Batson* covers race, gender, but also age. He then moved to redraw the panel. (R. p. 68). The trial court acknowledged the argument but sought to have all of the contested strikes addressed by the defense before moving forward. Appellant then addressed juror #152 and stated that “it appeared that juror number 152 displayed conservative demeanor, we, therefore, chose to exercise the strike.” (R. p. 68, line 23 through p. 69, line 1). The Assistant Solicitor argued in response that the reason provided was not a race-neutral reason, noting that he was not even sure what the definition of “conservative demeanor” even means. He labeled it “very broad” and argued that it “goes right to the heart of pretext. I mean, you can exercise pretext pretty regularly if that rationale was allowed to be upheld so we would ask also as it relates to that jur[or].” He then added that he had missed the fact that juror #179 was a former SCDC employee, and he therefore withdrew his objection to defense’s strike. (R. p. 69, lines 2-14).

The trial court then asked about the alternates, jurors 109 and 128. Appellant alleged that juror #109 “glared quite severely at the defendant and I, therefore, chose to exercise the strike.”

Regarding juror 128, Appellant asserted that “one of the State’s main witnesses is either actively serving or a veteran, um of some branch of the military. This gentleman was also indicated that he was a veteran and we had concerns of bias and we chose to exercise the strike.” (R. p. 69, line 18 through p. 70, line 2). The assistant solicitor contested the striking of a juror on the basis of their veteran status as improper and argued that such presents a dangerous precedent. (R. p. 70).

After hearing the reasoning from the defense, and the response to that reasoning from the State, the Court found that jurors numbered 20 and 152 presented a problem. The trial court acknowledged that “demeanor can sometimes be used as a sufficient reason for a strike, but I don’t know how one exhibits a conservative demeanor.” He then compared such a vague explanation to potentially appropriate demeanors that would suggest that the juror did not want to serve as a juror, or something that would identify some sort of bias from the juror. However, the trial court agreed that it did not know what “conservative demeanor” means, and there was nothing provided by the defense to articulate why that conclusion was reached by the defense. The trial court agreed that such strikes were therefore pretextual in nature and granted the State’s motion. (R. p. 71).

The parties proceeded to draw a new jury. In the process of drawing a new jury, the defense again used all ten strikes, and at least nine of those were for Caucasian jurors.¹¹ Five of the jurors from the original jury were called and seated again, but none of these jurors were disputed under *Batson*. The new jury was comprised of seven African Americans and five Caucasians, with nine of the jurors being female. Of the jurors previously addressed in the *Batson* hearing, #179 and #109 were called and struck again by the defense *without* objection. Juror #152, Melinda Rolfe, who was found to be inappropriately struck from the first jury, was called and seated *as an*

¹¹ Juror #18 Gregory Brigman’s was excused by the defense, but his race was not stated for the record by the court reporter. The defense did not exercise any strikes on alternate jurors.

alternate for the second jury. The record is clear that none of the three alternates were used and *Ms. Rolfe was excused as an alternate* when the jury exited the courtroom after the conclusion of jury instructions. (R. p. 518-519).

Discussion

The trial court conducted the *Batson* hearing precisely as is required, following each of the three steps in the *Batson* review. After hearing the arguments of counsel, the court found that Appellant had failed to present a clear and specific race-neutral basis for striking jurors #20 and #152, and instead relied on a pretextual explanation. This finding was not clearly erroneous in light of the record. In fact, the holding is well supported by the circumstances, the impropriety of Appellant's reliance upon "conservative demeanor" as the reasoning for the strike, and the lack of explanation for such a term. Additionally, as no disputed juror served on the second jury, Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice warranting reversal.

In *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), the United States Supreme Court set forth a three-step process for evaluating discriminatory peremptory challenges that violate the Equal Protection Clause. "First, the opponent of the peremptory challenge must make a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race." *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 18, 754 S.E.2d 261, 263 (2014). If the opponent's showing is sufficient, the second step requires the proponent of the challenge to provide a race-neutral explanation for the challenge. *Id.* "In *Purkett*, the Court clarified that the issue at that step is the facial validity of the explanation provided by the proponent of the strike, and the explanation need not be persuasive or even plausible. The Court went so far as to state the reason does not have to make sense, and even a silly or superstitious reason may suffice because it is not until the third step of the *Batson* process that the persuasiveness of the explanation becomes relevant." *Id.*, (citing *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S.

765, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995)). In 2005, the Supreme Court clarified that at the second stage of the *Batson* process a proponent of a strike must “give a clear and reasonably specific explanation of his legitimate reasons for exercising the challenge.” *Id.*, (quoting *Miller–El v. Dretke*, 545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005)). The South Carolina Supreme Court then noted that the process *can* end with a finding of *Batson* error following the second stage, if “the explanation provided is not sufficiently clear and specific to provide a factual basis that courts can review for legitimacy.” *Id.* The court then cited various examples from other jurisdictions where insufficient pretextual responses included assertions such as: 1) just not liking the juror, 2) just did not get a good feel from the juror, 3) reliance upon body language for six consecutive female jurors, and 4) gut feelings absent explanation. *Id.* Facially discriminatory reasons have included striking a juror, not because they were white, but because counsel considered them a “redneck.” *Payton v. Kearse*, 329 S.C. 51, 56, 495 S.E.2d 205, 208 (1998). If the proponent provides a sufficiently clear and specific basis for the strike that is race and gender-neutral, the third step requires that the opponent of the strike prove purposeful discrimination. *Giles*, 407 S.C. at 18, 754 S.E.2d at 263.

The State provided responses to the alleged “conservative demeanor” reasoning given by Appellant, often unsolicited by the court. However, the court’s holding – that it is uncertain how one exhibits a “conservative demeanor”, that it lacks any understanding of the meaning of that term, and that such is insufficient in the absence of further support or explanation from the defense of its reasoning – demonstrates that Appellant never satisfied the requirement that the reasoning be “sufficiently clear and specific” so as to provide a factual basis for the court to review legitimacy. His explanation was vague and generalized, such that there is no way for a subsequent

comparative analysis of similarly situated jurors to be undertaken. The court's reasoning for finding *Batson* error under step two was appropriate.

While the State argued fervently and the court subsequently agreed that the Appellant's assertion was pretextual, arguably demonstrating a venture into step three, the record also supports such a finding in light of the circumstances. Eleven out of twelve jurors excused from the first jury by the defense were white, and the only black juror excused by the defense was later seated in the second jury. This occurred despite the defense still possessing a strike and therefore an opportunity to remain consistent in their preference that a juror with previous knowledge of the case through a victim's family, was an appropriate basis for exclusion. There can be no finding of *clear error* in the court's ruling given the arguments, facts, and circumstances presented.

Additionally, *and dispositively*, a thorough review of the disputed jurors from the first draw demonstrates that *none* of these jurors were seated on the second drawn jury. *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 324, 631 S.E.2d 294, 303 (Ct. App. 2006) (noting that *Batson* error "is reversible only if the second jury is comprised of jurors whom the trial court erroneously prohibited the defendant from striking based on *Batson*."). "A defendant has no right to trial by any particular jury." *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 126, 470 S.E.2d 366, 373 (1996), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014). Ms. Rolfe was seated as an alternate only, no problems arose that required the use of alternate jurors, and she was appropriately excused prior to participating in deliberations. Existing case law is clear that any error in relation to such an alternate juror is harmless. *State v. Ford*, 334 S.C. 444, 449, 513 S.E.2d 385, 387 (Ct.App.1999); *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 325, 631 S.E.2d 294, 303 (Ct. App. 2006)

As such, there is no basis for clear error on the part of the trial court and no basis for prejudicial reversible error in light of the fact that no disputed jurors served on the second jury. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

III. The trial court did not err in admitting Officer Curtis's body-camera recording, as the evidence was neither cumulative nor substantially more prejudicial to the defendant than probative to the State's case-in-chief.

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